Pre-Analysis Plan

Coping with War through God: Religion and the Promotion of Mental Health and Prosociality Among Refugees

Mohammad Isaqzadeh

May 2, 2023

Contents

1	About This Pre-Analysis Plan	3
2	Research Motivation and Objective	3
3	Research Design	4
	3.1 Intervention	4
	3.2 Evaluation	
4	Outcomes	6
	4.1 Mental Health	6
	4.1.1 Primary Outcome	6
	4.1.2 Secondary Outcomes	7
	4.2 Coping Skills	7
	4.3 Prosociality	
	4.3.1 Attitude toward Turkish People and Non-Muslims	10
	4.4 Indirect Effect	11
5	Hypotheses	11
	5.1 Mental health	11
	5.2 Coping skills	12
	5.3 Prosociality	12
	5.4 Indirect impact	13
6	Estimation	13
	6.1 Multiple Hypotheses Testing	14

7	Exploring Mechanisms	14
	7.1 Mental health outcomes	14
	7.2 Prosociality	15
8	Missing Values	15

1 About This Pre-Analysis Plan

This pre-analysis plan describes the research design and procedures for a pilot randomized experiment that will be conducted in Istanbul, Turkey. The experiment investigates and compares the impact of a Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) training for refugees with an Islamically integrated version on refugees' mental health, inter-group reconciliation, and general prosociality. This document includes the research background, research design, outcomes of interest, hypotheses, potential mechanisms, and how the hypotheses are tested. The pre-analysis plan has been written and filed after the research design is finalized and the data collection for the baseline started but before any analysis of the baseline data and prior to the start of the intervention.

2 Research Motivation and Objective

Armed conflicts cause tremendous human suffering, particularly for displaced populations who lose their homes and sources of livelihood. Armed conflicts have resulted in 48 million pepole being displaced, either as refugees or Internally Displace People (IDP) (IDMC 2021). The displaced populations are particularly vulnerable to psychological disorders because of war-related traumas before departure and adverse experiences during transition and after arrival in a new community. Around 85 percent of refugees, for instance, remain in developing countries with fragile economies, with 27 percent of them living in least developed countries (UNHCR Refugee Project 2021). They usually live in horrible and substandard conditions. For example, nine out of ten Syrian refugees in Lebanon live in extreme poverty, with 60 percent of them dwelling in dangerous and overcrowded shelters (UNHCR 2021). Refugees who are settled in advanced economies may have better access to public goods and services but often suffer from resettlement stress, uncertain future, and the risk of deportation (Lindenorma et al 2007; WHO 2018; Nose et al. 2017). As a result, they are more likely to suffer from mental disorders than host populations or those who stayed in their communities (Pierbe et al. 2013). Although the prevalence of mental disorders varies from country to country, a large proportion of displaced people, sometimes more than 40 percent of them, are found to suffer from mental disorders, such as anxiety, depression, or PTSD (Priebe et al. 2013; Priebe et al. 2016; WHO 2018).

Despite their dire need for counseling services, IDPs and refugees have very limited access to mental health services. The lion's share of displaced IDPs and refugees live in developing or least developed countries where mental health services are scarce. In addition, because of the salience of religion in these society and the secular tendency of psychotherapy, they prefer consulting religious clerics (Farooqi 2006; Rassool 2006; Keshavarzi and Haque 2013; Asamarai 2018). Ali et al. (2005) found that even in the U.S., Mulism refugees prefer consulting imams, rather than psychotherapists, when dealing with mental health issues. Only a small number of imams in their study, however, had received training in counseling. Although imams had the knowledge to provide spiritual guidance, they rarely had the skills to provide counseling services for individuals with mental health disorders or advise them on coping skills (Ali et al. 2005).

This study designs a novel intervention that taps into local human resources to help civilians cope with the adverse psychological effects of war and displacement. While there is a limited number of psychologists and counselors to provide mental health services in war-torn societies, there is almost one cleric or religious figure in every village in Muslim societies – and tens or hundreds in every town and urban center. This experiment explores the valuable role that the far-reaching religious institutions could play in healing individuals and communities affected by armed conflicts. Although spiritual healing initiatives have involved priests and integrated religious healing into CBT sessions for helping religious patients in the US (Hodge 2013; Plante 2009; Richards and Bergin 1997; Richards and Bergin 2005), this project is the first initiative to study the effect of Islamically integrated psychoeducation on refugees' mental health and prosocial behavior. Given the ubiquitous presence of clerics in Muslim societies, this intervention has promising potentials for scaling up and expanding accessible coping tools for coping with war and displacement, not only for Afghans but also other Muslims affected by armed conflicts.

3 Research Design

3.1 Intervention

For this pilot study, around 600 Afghan refugees will be recruited in Istanbul, Turkey, through advertisements on social media and posters distributed in the neighborhoods with large populations of Afghan refugees. Those interested in the program will be randomly assigned to (1) a manualized Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) training that teaches coping and emotion regulation skills, (2) an Islamically integrated version of CBT, (3) traditional Islamic sermons on spiritual coping and healing without CBT structure, or (4) a waiting control condition. The sample will include male and female participants. However, due to cultural issues, there will be separate sessions for men and women. As a result, the assignment will through block randomization based on gender.

The CBT condition combines elements from the WHO Self-Help Plus program and

START NOW, both psychoeducation programs designed for refugees. START NOW is a cognitive behavioral therapy that integrates building blocks from dialectical-behavioral therapy and acceptance commitment therapy. Originally developed for correctional environments, by Professor Robert Trestman at the University of Connecticut, it has been adapted for use in other settings that face similar resource constraints and extensive need for effective, reliable, and manual-guided treatment for teaching emotion regulation and coping skills. The program is offered as a group-based training and includes four units: (1) dealing with stressors, (2) understanding and coping with emotions and feelings, (3) building relationships, and (4) setting and reaching goals. Self-Plus program, designed by WHO, focuses on relaxation and emotion regulation skills. In addition, the CBT condition will also includes two units on compassion training (Germer and Neff 2019), focusing on skills to mitigate self-blame and promote positive emotions toward others.

The Islamically integrated CBT is modeled after the standard CBT intervention and follows the same structure but incorporates Islamic traditions for coping and healing. It includes the same elements of START NOW, Self-Help Plus and compassion training. The standard START NOW program teaches relaxation techniques (such as breathing and muscle relaxation) and focuses on cognitive restructuring and positive thinking to help participants evaluate and correct negative cognitions and thoughts that lead to negative emotions. The Islamically integrated CBT teaches relaxation through religious meditation and prayer. For cognitive restructuring and positive thinking, the Islamically integrated version relies on Islamic teachings such as trust in God, patience, and appraising adverse events as opportunities for spiritual growth. In addition, examples of Prophet Mohammad and other Prophets, mentioned in the Quran, who experienced involuntary migration will be used as role models for reinterpretation of adverse conditions and cultivating compassion toward others.

The third group will receive traditional Islamic sermons that discuss Islamic teachings for dealing with adverse conditions. The themes include patience, trust in divine providence, prayer and seeking divine support and compassion toward others. This treatment arm is delivered as sermons—the same format as a Muslim cleric delivers a speech in religious ceremonies—and will lack the CBT structure. The sermons do not include the discussion and exercise of coping skills.

To standardize the format of the three treatment arms and only vary the contents, all three groups will receive seven sessions. The PI has developed manuals for all three treatment arms and has pre-recorded a 30-minute video for each session. For CBT and Islamically integrated CBT, Each video discusses the main coping techniques and exercises discussed in the manuals. Videos will be played by trained facilitators who will help participants practices the exercises discussed in each video. Each session is expected to last between 45

to 60 minutes. Each video for traditional sermon is also around 40 minutes, but there will be no discussion or practice of coping skills in this treatment arm. Since the contents in all three treatment arms are presented by the same individual (PI) and only the contents vary, the three treatment arms are relatively comparable.

The fourth group will not receive any treatment initially in order to provide comparable control groups. To avoid withholding treatment from those in need of counseling, however, those assigned to the control condition will also be provided the standardized CBT training within 12 to 18 months after the treatment groups complete their sessions and the second wave of survey has been completed. Nonetheless, to control for the impact of financial compensation on the outcomes of interest, the control group will receive the same financial compensation and at the same time as the three treatment arms.

3.2 Evaluation

The pilot study will include two rounds of survey to evaluate the impact of the intervention. There will be a baseline survey before the intervention and a follow-up survey two weeks after the completion of the intervention. If the researcher secure funds, there will be a second follow-up survey within 12 to 18 months after the intervention to measure the longer-term impact of the intervention.

4 Outcomes

The outcomes of interest for this study are mental health, prosociality and reconciliation. They are measured as discussed below.

4.1 Mental Health

4.1.1 Primary Outcome

The primary outcome is measured using depression/anxiety combined (Hopkins Symptoms Checklist 25). Hopkins Symptoms Checklist 25 (HSCL-25) is a standard instrument commonly used for detecting anxiety and depression. The instruments were tested for their reliability in the cultural context of Afghanistan (Ventevogel et al. 2007) and used in several surveys studying mental health among Afghans (Cardozo et al. 2004; Scholte 2004; Bodeya et al. 2019).

4.1.2 Secondary Outcomes

The secondary outcomes include overall psychological well-being, symptoms of PTSD, and sub-scales of depression and anxiety. Overall psychological well-being is measured using the five-item WHO well-being index for measuring overall psychological well-being. Another common mental disorder among people affected by war and displacement is PTSD. To measure exposure to traumatic events and symptoms of PTSD, we will use the Harvard Trauma Questionnaire - Revised (HTQ-R), which is consistent with DSM-V criteria for postraumatic stress disorder. We will use an updated version of these instruments that were carefully pilot tested and modified by psychology researchers to adapt them for surveying Afghans (Cardozo et al. 2004; Scholte 2004; Bodeya et al. 2019). Finally, we will measure depression and anxiety using sub-scales of HSCL-25 separately for exploring the impact of the intervention on the symptoms of depression and anxiety separately.

4.2 Coping Skills

To assess the impact of the intervention on coping, we will measure adaptive and maladaptive coping strategies using COPE Brief scale developed by Carver (2013). Because of cultural sensitivity, however, we will modify some of the items in order make it relevant for our population of study—such as replacing drug alcohol use with smoking. Following Moore et al. (2011), we will categorize COPE Brief items into adaptive and maladaptive coping strategies.

We will use the standard approach to coding and analyzing the primary and secondary mental health outcomes. The responses will be coded on Likert scale from 1 to 4 (on an increasing scale). We will use the average of items for each instrument–adding the scores for all items and dividing by the number of items.

4.3 Prosociality

To measure the effect of the program on prosociality, we will use attitudinal and behavioral measures. We will study how the treatment arms affect attitudes and behavior toward ingroup and outgroups. Our first priority is studying whether the intervention could improve inter-group relations among Afghans. The four decades of war exacerbated inter-group rivalry and animosity. The following questions will measure attitudes toward ingroup (same ethnic group) and outgroup (members of other ethnic groups).

Attitude toward ingroups

• How much affection and closeness do you feel toward Afghans who are from your own

ethnic group?

- How much trust do you have in Afghans who are from your own ethnic group?
- Suppose you do not know your new neighbors but know that they belong to the same ethnic group as yours. How much at ease and comfortable would you feel with them?
- How much do you like other Afghans who are from your own ethnic group?

Attitude toward out-groups

- How much affection and closeness do you feel toward Afghans who are not from your own ethnic group?
- How much trust do you have in Afghans who are not from your own ethnic group?
- Suppose you do not know your new neighbors but know that they are Afghan and do not belong to your ethnic group. How much at ease and comfortable would you feel with them?
- How much do you like other Afghans who do not belong to your ethnic group?

The responses are coded on a six-point Likert scale (1 to 6). To create indices of attitude toward ingroup and out-groups, we will conduct factor analysis to create one index for measuring attitudes toward each group. After factor loading, we will use the first component for analysis of attitude toward each group. We will rescale each factor to have mean 0 and standard deviation of 1.

To measure prosocial behavior toward ingroup and out-groups, we will use a donation exercise and two voluntary activities benefiting ingroup or out-groups. For the donation exercise, participants will be given sums of money (each around 4 USD) which they could keep part of for themselves and allocate the rest to two charities. These charities are based in Afghanistan—but in different parts of the country and serving Afghans belonging to different ethnic groups. Once charity has branches in the southern and eastern regions, where mainly Pashtuns live. The other charity has branches in northern Afghanistan, which is a central region where Uzbeks and Tajiks live. To make the two options comparable, participants will be told only the regions where charities operate and the ethnic group of their beneficiaries—without specifying the names of charities. One donation would be allocated to the same ethnic group as the participant while the other donation is given to the charity serving rival ethnic group. For Pashtuns, the rival ethnic group is Tajik while for Uzbeks and Tajiks the rival ethnic group is Pashtun.

The participants will be given envelops and asked to decide on how much to donate to each charity. They will make the decision in private and will drop envelopes into donation boxes in a private space where they are not observed. We will use unique identifiers assigned to each participant to trace the amounts of allocated donations. We will not trace donation amounts to participants' names, but rather to anonymized identifiers in order to identify which intervention participants were assigned to and their ethnic and language background. Such a connection is essential for measuring the effect of each treatment arm on prosociality toward co-ethnics and outgroups.

For voluntary activity 1, respondents will be invited to participate in a short survey to collect information and guidance for new refugees, such as access to medical services, finding jobs, etc. The interviews will be in Dari, Uzbeki and Pushto (three main languages spoken by Afghans). The information collected through the survey will be organized and presented on a website dedicated to providing information for Afghan refugees. One page of the website will be in Dari, another one in Pushto, and the third page in Uzbeki. For the sake of this research project, we will study the participants' willingness to take part in the interviews for collecting information for the webpage of their own language or the language spoken by members of rival ethnic group. For those speaking Dari or Uzbeki, the language of rival ethnic group is Pushtu. For Pushtu speakers, the language of main rival ethnic group is Dari. We will measure whether participants are willing to be interviewed and how long they spend on answering interview questions. Each participant will receive two invitations. One invitation will be for participating in collecting information for the webpage of their own language. The other invitation will be for providing information for the wabpage of rival ethnic group's language. The order of receiving these invitations will be randomized.

For voluntary activity 2, we will invite participants to take part in preparing and packing cloths that are donated for the poor and orphans in Afghanistan. The beneficiaries will be either ingroup (the same ethnic group as the participants) or belonging to the rival ethnic group. We will measure whether participants are willing to take part in this voluntary activity and how long they spend helping with packing and preparing donated cloths. Participation in the reconciliation exercises is completely voluntary and will not affect the participants' eligibility to participate in the follow-up surveys if they decide not to participate in the exercises. Similar to the first voluntary activity, each respondent will be invited to participate in preparing and packing cloths twice—for ingroup and outgroup beneficiaries. The order of invitation will be randomized.

We will develop indices of prosocial behavior toward ingroup and out-groups as it follows. First, we will rescale the amount donated, the number of minutes spent on phone interviews

^{1.} For Uzbek and Tajiks, the rival ethnic group is Pashtun. For Pashtuns, the rival ethnic group is Tajik.

for offering information, and the number of minutes the participants help with packing and preparing donated cloths. Second, we will use principle component analysis to create an index of the three activities—using the first component as the outcome.

4.3.1 Attitude toward Turkish People and Non-Muslims

We will also investigate attitudes toward Turkish people and non-Muslims as a further exploration of the impact of intervention on prosociality. First, the intervention may have positive effect on prosocial behavior and attitude but the effect may not be large enough to overcome the inter-group animosity among Afghans. Since Turkish people have not been involved in the Afghanistan conflict, they provide a relevant reference group to measure the impact of the program on prosociality in the context of low inter-group animosity. Second, the intervention may improve general prosociality—regardless of inter-group relations—but in reference to Muslims only. Since the main treatment arms—Islamically integrated CBT—draws upon religious moral values, it may improve prosocial attitude toward Muslims and have no or negative effect on prosociality toward non-Muslims. To investigate this proposition, we will also measure attitude toward non-Muslims as well.

The following questions will be used to develop indices for attitude toward Turkish people and non-Muslims. We will follow the procedure described above to create indices of attitude toward Turkish people and toward non-Muslims. We will also use a donation exercise to measure behavior toward Turks. The participants will be given an amount of money (around 4 USD) and will be asked to decide how much to allocate to a charity that assists Turkish people affected by the recent earthquake.

Attitude toward Turkish people

- How much affection and closeness do you feel toward Turkish people?
- How much trust do you have in Turkish people?
- Suppose you do not know your new neighbors but know that they are Turk. How much at ease and comfortable would you feel with them?
- How much do you like Turkish people?
- How happy are you with the way Turkish people have been treating you?

Attitude toward non-Muslims

- How much affection and closeness do you feel toward those who are not Muslim?
- How much trust do you have in those who are not Muslim?

- Suppose you do not know your new neighbors but know that they are not Muslim. How much at ease and comfortable would you feel with them?
- How much do you like those who are not Muslim?

4.4 Indirect Effect

To measure the indirect effect of the intervention, we will conduct a family survey. We will interview over phone participants' key family members (husband, wife, or the eldest adult son or daughter with whom a participant lives). We will measure depression and anxiety (using HSCL 25) and coping skills (using Carver 2013 instrument). The family surveys will be conducted at three points: before the intervention, one or two weeks after the end of the intervention and 12 to 18 months after the intervention.

5 Hypotheses

5.1 Mental health

We will test the following hypotheses with regard to the mental health and coping skills outcomes:

- H1: Compared to those assigned to the control condition, those assigned to the CBT training are more likely to have higher mental health scores
- H2: Compared to those assigned to the control condition, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher mental health scores
- H3: Compared to those assigned to the control condition, those assigned to the traditional Islamic sermons are more likely to have higher mental health scores
- H4: Compared to those assinged to the CBT training, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher mental health scores
- H5: Compared to those assigned to the traditional Islamic sermons, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher mental health scores

5.2 Coping skills

We will test the following hypotheses with regard to coping skills.

- H6: Compared to those assigned to the control condition, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher scores on adaptive coping skills
- H7: Compared to those assinged to the CBT training, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher scores on adaptive coping skills
- H8: Compared to those assigned to the traditional Islamic sermons, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher scores on adaptive coping skills

5.3 Prosociality

The following hypotheses will be tested with regard to prosociality outcomes: Core hypotheses:

- H9a: Compared to those assigned to the control condition, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher scores on prosocial attitude index and prosocial behavior index toward ingroups.
- H9b: Compared to those assigned to the control condition, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher scores on prosocial attitude index and prosocial behavior index toward "out-groups".
- H10a: Compared to those assigned to the CBT training, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher scores on prosocial attitude index and prosocial behavior index toward ingroups.
- H10b: Compared to those assigned to the CBT training, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher scores on prosocial attitude index and prosocial behavior index toward "out-groups".
- H11a: Compared to those assigned to the control group, those assigned to the traditional sermons are more likely to have higher scores on prosocial attitude index and prosocial behavior index toward ingroups.

- H11b: Compared to those assigned to the control group, those assigned to the traditional sermons are more likely to have higher scores on prosocial attitude index and prosocial behavior index toward "out-groups".
- H12a: Compared to those assigned to the control condition, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher scores on prosocial attitude index toward Turks.
- H12b: Compared to those assigned to the control condition, those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT training are more likely to have higher scores on prosocial attitude index toward Non-Muslims.

5.4 Indirect impact

- H13a: The family members of those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT will have higher scores on mental health than those assigned to control condition.
- H13b: The family members of those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT will have higher scores on mental health than those assigned to the CBT condition.
- H14a: The family members of those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT will have higher scores on coping skills than those assigned to the control condition.
- H14b: The family members of those assigned to the Islamically integrated CBT will have higher scores on coping skills than those assigned to the CBT condition.

6 Estimation

To calculate the impact of treatment arms, we will conduct an Intention to Treat (ITT) analysis as well as Local Average Treatment Effect (LATE) estimation. For the ITT analysis, we will use OLS regression based on the following equation, with standard errors clustered at class level, and the baseline covariates listed below included as control variables.

$$Y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 CBT_i + \beta_2 IslamicCBT_i + \beta_3 Sermons_i + \beta_4 \mathbf{X}_i + \epsilon_i, \tag{1}$$

where CBT_i , $IslamicCBT_i$, and $Sermons_i$ refer to the randomized assignment to treatment arms. Y_i denotes the outcome variable. \mathbf{X}_i refers to a vector of control variables and include the measurement of outcome variable at the baseline and demographic variables

(age, gender, marital status, education, job, income, residence status, ethnicity, and years living in Turkey).

We will also conduct a LATE estimation, using random assignment as an instrumental variable. We define compliers in the control group as those who did not participate in any treatment session. In the three treatment arms, we define compliers as those who participated in at least 6 out of the 7 sessions. We will use two-stage least square (2SLS) to estimate the effect of treatment on the outcome for compliers.

The following equation specifies the first stage,

$$Treat_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Z_i + \beta_4 \mathbf{X}_i + \epsilon_i, \tag{2}$$

where Z_i presents the random assignment to the control group (0) or one of the treatment arms (1 for CBT, 2 for Islamic CBT, and 3 for sermons). $Treat_i$ shows the actual treatment status. As specified above, those who participated in at least 6 out of the seven assigned sessions are classified as "treated" or compliers. X_i refers to a vector of control variables and include the measurement of outcome variable at the baseline and demographic variables (age, gender, marital status, education, job, income, residence status, ethnicity, and years living in Turkey).

We will use OLS regression and the predicted values from the first stage, \widehat{Treat}_i , to estimate the impact of treatment on outcomes – represented by the following equation.

$$Y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \widehat{Treat}_i + \beta_4 \mathbf{X}_i + \epsilon_i. \tag{3}$$

6.1 Multiple Hypotheses Testing

To reduce the number of hypotheses tested, we develop indices as discussed in the previous section. To account for multiple hypotheses testing, we will use Benjamini-Hochberg procedure. The number of hypotheses tested, m, for mental health is five; for coping skills, m equals 3; for prosociality hypotheses, m equals 8, and for indirect impact, m equals 4.

7 Exploring Mechanisms

7.1 Mental health outcomes

We will do an exploratory investigation of mechanisms. For mental health outcomes, Islamically integrated CBT may lead to better outcomes than standard CBT through two mechanisms. First, the contents and skills taught in the Islamically integrated CBT could be

more consistent with participants' prior beliefs and practices, leading to a stronger adoption of skills in real life. To explore this mechanism, we will ask participants to rate the extent to which what they learn in a training corresponds with their beliefs; the frequency at which they practice the exercises outside classroom, and their level of satisfaction with the training. Second, the Islamically integrated CBT could be more effective by reorienting participants' focus from worldly concerns to otherworldly concerns. To explore this mechanism, the survey will include questions on the frequency of thinking about afterlife, heavenly rewards, and otherworldly punishment.

7.2 Prosociality

The intervention may affect prosociality through four mechanisms. First, Islamically integrated CBT may cause an improvement in prosocial behavior, compared to standard CBT, through the expectation for divine rewards. The second potential mechanism is happiness, that is, feeling happy through acts of kindness toward others. The third mechanism is sociotropic motivations: to improve the condition of one's community members. The forth potential mechanism is through strengthening altruism and the sense of moral obligation toward others. The survey will include questions to explore these different mechanisms.

8 Missing Values

To deal with missing values, I will replace them with the median for the covariates included in the analysis. For factor analysis, if an observation has more than fifty percent missing values for the items of an index, I will remove that observation. Otherwise, I will impute the missing values using the median for that item.

References and Relevant Literature

- Ali, Osman M., Glen Milstein, and Peter M. Mazruk. 2005. "The Imam's Role in Meeting the Counseling Needs of Muslim Communities in the United States". *Psychiatric Services* 56 (2): 202-205.
- Atran, Scott. 2003. "Who Wants to Be a Martyr?" The New York Times (May 5).
- Atran, Scott, Hammad Sheikh, and Angel Gomez. 2014. "Devoted actors sacrifice for close comrades and sacred cause." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111 (50): 17702-17703.
- Azhar, M. Z., S. L. Varma, and A. S. Dharap. 1994. "Religious psychotherapy in anxiety disorder patients." *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 90 (1): 1-3.
- Baranov, Victoria, Sonia Bhalotra, Pietro Biroli, and Joanna Maselko. 2020. "Maternal Depression, Women's Empowerment, and Parental Investment: Evidence from a Randomized Controlled Trial." *American Economic Review*, 110 (3): 824-59.
- Bassett, Jonathan F. 2007. "Psychological Defenses Against Death Anxiety: Integrating Terror Management Theory and Firestone's Separation Theory." *Death Studies* 31, no. 8 (August 20): 727-750.
- Bentzen, Jeanet Sinding. 2013. *Origins of Religiousness: The Role of Natural Disasters*. SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2221859. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network, February 18.
- Bentzen, Jeanet Sinding. 2015. "Acts of God: Religiosity and Natural Disasters Across Subnational World Districts": 71.
- Bercovitch, Jacob, and Ayse Kadayifci-Orellana. 2009. "Religion and Mediation: The Role of Faith-Based Actors in International Conflict Resolution." *International Negotiation* 14 (1): 175-204.
- Boanb, Bagher Ghobari and Ali Akbar Haddadi Koohsar.2011. "Reliance on God as a core construct of Islamic psychology". *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 30 (2011) 216 220.
- Yasmin Nilofer Farooqi. 2006. "Traditional Healing Practices Sought by Muslim Psychiatric Patients in Lahore, Pakistan." *International Journal of Disability, Development and Education*, 53:4, 401-415.
- Graeme Blair, Rebecca Littman, Elizabeth R. Nugent, Rebecca Wolfe, Mohammed Bukar, Benjamin Crisman, Anthony Etim, Chad Hazlett, Jiyoung Kim. 2021. "Trusted authorities can change minds and shift norms during conflict". *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118 (42).
- Blattman, Christopher, Julian C. Jamison, and Margaret Sheridan. 2017. "Reducing Crime and Violence: Experimental Evidence from Cognitive Behavioral Therapy in Liberia." *American Economic Review*, 107 (4): 1165-1206.
- Bunzel, Cole. 2015. "From Paper State to Caliphate: The Ideology of the Islamic State." *The Brookings Institute* (Analysis Paper No. 19): 48.
- Canetti, Daphna, Julia Elad-Strenger, Iris Lavi, Dana Guy, and Daniel Bar-Tal. 2017. "Exposure to Violence, Ethos of Conflict, and Support for Compromise: Surveys in Israel, East Jerusalem, West Bank, and Gaza." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 61, no. 1 (January): 84-113.
- Canetti, Daphna, Stevan E Hobfoll, Ami Pedahzur, and Eran Zaidise. 2010. "Much ado about religion: Religiosity, resource loss, and support for political violence." *Journal of*

- Peace Research 47, no. 5 (September): 575-587.
- Cardozo, Barbara Lopes. 2004. "Mental Health, Social Functioning, and Disability in Postwar Afghanistan." *JAMA* 292, no. 5 (August 4): 575.
- Cardozo, Barbara Lopes, Reinhard Kaiser, Carol A. Gotway, and Ferid Agani. 2003. "Mental health, social functioning, and feelings of hatred and revenge of Kosovar Albanians one year after the war in Kosovo." *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 16 (4): 351-360.
- Carlson, E. B., Newman, E., Daniels, J. W., Armstrong, J., Roth, D., & Loewenstein, R. (2003). Distress in response to and perceived usefulness of trauma research interviews. Journal of Trauma & Dissociation, 4(2), 131-142.
- Chan, Kai Qin, Eddie Mun Wai Tong, and Yan Lin Tan. 2014. "Taking a Leap of Faith: Reminders of God Lead to Greater Risk Taking." *Social Psychological and Personality Science* 5, no. 8 (November 1): 901-909
- Clingingsmith, David, Asim Ijaz Khwaja, and Michael Kremer. 2009. "Estimating the Impact of the Hajj: Religion and Tolerance in Islam's Global Gathering." *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 124 (3): 1133-1170.
- Condra, Luke N., Mohammad Isaqzadeh, and Sera Linardi. 2019. "Clerics and Scriptures: Experimentally Disentangling the Influence of Religious Authority in Afghanistan." *British Journal of Political Science* 49, no. 2 (April): 401-419.
- Cromer, L., Freyd, J. J., Binder, A. K., DePrince, A. P., & Becker- Blease, K. (2006). What's The risk in asking? Participant reaction to trauma history questions compared with reaction to other personal questions. *Ethics & Behavior*, 16, 347–363.
- Dechesne, Mark, Tom Pyszczynski, Jamie Arndt, Sean Ransom, Kennon M. Sheldon, Ad van Knippenberg, and Jacques Janssen. 2003. "Literal and symbolic immortality: The effect of evidence of literal immortality on self-esteem striving in response to mortality salience." *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 84 (4): 722-737.
- Drolet, Jean-Louis. 1990. "Transcending death during early adulthood: Symbolic immortality, death anxiety, and purpose in life." *Journal of Clinical Psychology* 46 (2): 148-160.
- Fair, C. Christine, Neil Malhotra, and Jacob N. Shapiro. 2010. "Islam, Militancy, and Politics in Pakistan: Insights From a National Sample." *Terrorism and Political Violence* 22, no. 4 (September 14): 495-521.
- Fair, C. Christine, Clay Ramsay, and Steve Kull. 2008. *Pakistani Public Opinion on Democracy, Islamist Militancy, and Relations with the U.S.* United States Institute of Peace.
- Fair, C. Christine, Jacob S. Goldstein, and Ali Hamza. 2017. "Can Knowledge of Islam Explain Lack of Support for Terrorism? Evidence from Pakistan." *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 40, no. 4 (April 3): 339-355.
- Fischer, Peter, Amy L. Ai, Nilufer Aydin, Dieter Frey, and S. Alexander Haslam. 2010. "The Relationship between Religious Identity and Preferred Coping Strategies: An Examination of the Relative Importance of Interpersonal and Intrapersonal Coping in Muslim and Christian Faiths:" *Review of General Psychology* (December 1).
- Fitzgibbons, Richard P. 1986. "The cognitive and emotive uses of forgiveness in the treatment of anger." *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training* 23 (4): 629-633.
- Galea, S., Nandi, A., Stuber, J., Gold, J., Acierno, R., Best, C., Bucuvalas, M., Rudenstine, S., Boscarino, J., & Resnick, H. (2005). Participant reactions to survey research in the general population after terrorist attacks. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 18, 461-465.
- Gorsuch, Richard L., and Judy Y. Hao. 1993. "Forgiveness: An Exploratory Factor Analysis and Its Relationships to Religious Variables." *Review of Religious Research* 34, no. 4

- (June): 333.
- Gleditsch, Nils Petter, and Ida Rudolfsen. 2016. "Are Muslim countries more prone to violence?" Research & Politics: 1-9.
- Gray, Kurt, and Daniel M. Wegner. 2010. "Blaming God for Our Pain: Human Suffering and the Divine Mind." *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 14, no. 1 (February 1): 7-16.
- Griffin, M., Resick, P., Waldrop, A., & Mechanic, M. (2003). Participation in trauma research: Is there evidence of harm? *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 16, 221-7.
- Haddad, Simon. 2003. "Islam and Attitudes toward U.S. Policy in the Middle East: Evidence from Survey Research in Lebanon." *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 26, no. 2 (March 1): 135-154.
- Hall, Jonathan, and Dennis Kahn. 202. "Exposure to Wartime Trauma Decreases Positive Emotions and Altruism Toward Rival Out-Groups (But Not Nonrival Out-Groups): A Survey Experiment in a Field Setting Among Syrian Refugees." *Social Psychological and Personality Science*.
- Hall, Jonathan, Iosif Kovras, Djordje Stefanovic, and Neophytos Loizides. 2018. "Exposure to Violence and Attitudes Towards Transitional Justice." *Political Psychology* 39 (2): 345-363.
- Hasan, Noorhaidi. 2011. "Salafi Madrasahs and Islamic Radicalism in Post-New Order Indonesia." In Islamic Studies and Islamic Education in Contemporary Southeast Asia, edited by Kamaruzzaman Ahmad and Patrick Joy. Kuala Lampur: Yayasan Ilumwan.
- Hirsch-Hoefler, Sivan, Daphna Canetti, Carmit Rapaport, and Stevan E. Hobfoll. 2016. "Conflict will Harden your Heart: Exposure to Violence, Psychological Distress, and Peace Barriers in Israel and Palestine." *British Journal of Political Science* 46, no. 4 (October): 845-859.
- Hobfoll, Stevan E., Daphna Canetti-Nisim, and Robert J. Johnson. 2006. "Exposure to terrorism, stress-related mental health symptoms, and defensive coping among Jews and Arabs in Israel." *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 74, no. 2 (April): 207-218.
- Hodge, David R. 2013. "Assessing spirituality and religion in the context of counseling and psychotherapy." In *APA handbook of psychology, religion, and spirituality (Vol 2): An applied psychology of religion and spirituality*. Edited by Kenneth I. Pargament, Annette Mahoney, and Edward P. Shafranske, 93-123. Washington: American Psychological Association.
- Inzlicht, Michael, and Alexa M. Tullett. 2010. "Reflecting on God: Religious Primes Can Reduce Neurophysiological Response to Errors." *Psychological Science* 21, no. 8 (August): 1184-1190.
- Kadayifci-Orellana, S. Ayse. 2015. "Peacebuilding in the Muslim World." In *The Oxford Handbook of Religion, Conflict, and Peacebuilding*, edited by R. Scott Appleby, Atalia Omer, and David Little, 429-469. Oxford University Press, March 2.
- Juergensmeyer, Mark. 2003. *Terror in the Mind of God: The Global Rise of Religious Violence*. 3rd Revised edition. Berkeley: University of California Press, September 1.
- Kaltenthaler, Karl, William J. Miller, Stephen Ceccoli, and Ron Gelleny. 2010. "The Sources of Pakistani Attitudes toward Religiously Motivated Terrorism." *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 33, no. 9 (August 16): 815-835.
- Keshavarzi, Hooman and Amber Haque. 2013. "Outlining a Psychotherapy Model for Enhancing

- Muslim Mental Health Within an Islamic Context." *International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, 23:3, 230-249.
- Lindencrona, Fredrik, Solvig Ekblad, and Edvard Hauff. 2007. "Mental health of recently resettled refugees from the Middle East in Sweden: the impact of pre-resettlement trauma, resettlement stress and capacity to handle stress." *Social Psychiatry*, 43:121–131.
- Lutgendorf, S. K., & Antoni, M. H. (1999). Emotional and cognitive processing in a trauma disclosure paradigm. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 23
- Mercier, Brett, Stephanie R. Kramer, and Azim F. Shari_. 2018. "Belief in God: Why People Believe, and Why They Don't." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 27, no. 4 (August): 263-268.
- Murthy, R Srinivasa, and Rashmi Lakshminarayana. 2006. "Mental health consequences of war: a brief review of research findings." *World Psychiatry*: 6.
- Niwa, Erika Y., Paul Boxer, Eric Dubow, L. R. Huesmann, Khalil Shikaki, Simha Landau, and Shira D. Gvirsman. 2016. "Growing Up Amid Ethno-Political Conflict: Aggression and Emotional Desensitization Promote Hostility to Ethnic Outgroups." *Child Development* 87 (5): 1479-1492.
- Nosè M, Ballette F, Bighelli I, Turrini G, Purgato M, Tol W, et al. 2017. "Psychosocial interventions for post-traumatic stress disorder in refugees and asylum seekers resettled in high-income countries: Systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS ONE 12(2): e0171030.
- Pargament, Kenneth I., David S. Ensing, Kathryn Falgout, Hannah Olsen, Barbara Reilly, Kimberly Van Haitsma, and Richard Warren. 1990. "God help me: (I): Religious coping efforts as predictors of the outcomes to significant negative life events." *American Journal of Community Psychology* 18, no. 6 (December): 793-824.
- Pennebaker, J.W., Kiecolt-Glaser, J.K., & Glaser, R. (1988). Disclosure of traumas and immune function: Health implications for psychotherapy. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 56, 239-245.
- Pew 2020. The Global God Divide People's thoughts on whether belief in God is necessary to be moral vary by economic development, education and age. July 20, 2020.
- Plante, Thomas G. 2009. "Religion-spirituality in the practice and science of psychology." In *Spiritual practices in psychotherapy: Thirteen tools for enhancing psychological health.* 9-28. Washington: American Psychological Association.
- Priebe S, Jankovic Gavrilovic J, Bremner S, Ajdukovic D, Franciskovic T, Galeazzi GM, Kucukalic A, Lecic-Tosevski D, Morina N, Popovski M, Schützwohl M, Bogic M. 2013. "Psychological symptoms as long-term consequences of war experiences." *Psychopathology*. 2013;46(1):45-54.
- Priebe, Stefan, Domenico Giacco, and Rawda El-Nagib. 2016. "Public health aspects of mental health among migrants and refugees: a review of the evidence on mental health care for refugees, asylum seekers and irregular migrants in the WHO European Region." WHO. Health Evidence Network synthesis report 47.
- Rahman, A., Malik, A., Sikander, S., Roberts, C., & Creed, F. (2008). "Cognitive behaviour therapy-based intervention by community health workers for mothers with depression and their infants in rural Pakistan: a cluster-randomised controlled trial." *The Lancet*, 372(9642), 902-909.
- Rassool, G. Hussein. 2016. *Islamic counselling: an introduction to theory and practice*. East Sussex; New York, NY: Routledge. ISBN: 978-0-415-74264-1 978-0-415-74268-9.
- Razali, Salleh Mohd., Kassim Aminah, and Umeed Ali Khan. 2002. "Religious-Cultural

- Psychotherapy in the Management of Anxiety Patients." *Transcultural Psychiatry* 39, no. 1 (March): 130-136.
- Richards, P. Scott, and Allen E. Bergin. 1997. "Religious and spiritual practices as therapeutic interventions." In *A spiritual strategy for counseling and psychotherapy*. 201-228. Washington: American Psychological Association.
- Sampson, Cynthia. 2007. "Religion and Peacebuilding." In *Peacemaking in International Conflict: Methods & Techniques*, Revised Edition, edited by I. William Zartman. United States Institute of Peace.
- Sikander, S., Ahmad, I., Atif, N., Zaidi, A., Vanobberghen, F., Weiss, H. A., ... & Bilal, S. (2019). "Delivering the Thinking Healthy Programme for perinatal depression through volunteer peers: Acluster randomised controlled trial in Pakistan." *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 6(2), 128-139.
- Scholte, Willem F. 2004. "Mental Health Symptoms Following War and Repression in Eastern Afghanistan." *JAMA* 292, no. 5 (August 4): 585.
- Smock, David R., ed. 2002. *Interfaith dialogue and peacebuilding*. Washington, D.C: United States Institute of Peace Press. ISBN: 978-1-929223-35-0.
- Smock, David. 2006. *Religious Contributions to Peacemaking: When Religion Bring Peace, Not War.* Peacework 55. United States Institute of Peace, January.
- Solomon, Sheldon, Jeff Greenberg, and Tom Pyszczynski. 1991. "A Terror Management Theory of Social Behavior: The Psychological Functions of Self-Esteem and Cultural Worldviews." *In Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 24:93-159.
- Stemmann, Juan Jose Escobar. 2006. "Middle East Salafism's Influence and The Radicalization of Muslim Communities in Europe." *The Middle East Review of International Affairs* 10 (3): 1-16.
- Tessler, Mark, and Jodi Nachtwey. 1998. "Islam and Attitudes toward International Conflict: Evidence from Survey Research in the Arab World." *Journal of Conflict Resolution* 42, no. 5 (October 1): 619-636.
- Ventevogel, Peter, Gieljan De Vries, Willem F Scholte, Nasratullah Rasa Shinwari, Hafizullah Faiz, Ruhullah Nassery, Wim van den Brink, and Miranda Olff. 2007. "Properties of the Hopkins Symptom Checklist-25 (HSCL-25) and the Self-Reporting Questionnaire (SRQ-20) as screening instruments used in primary care in Afghanistan." Social Psychiatry and psychiatric Epidemiology, 42: 328–335.
- USIP. 2003. Can Faith-Based NGOs Advance Reconciliation: The Case of Bosnia-Herzegovina. USIP Special Report 13. Washington, DC: United States Institute of Peace.
- Weismann, Itzchak. 2017. "A Perverted Balance: Modern Salafism between Reform and Jihad." *Die Welt des Islams* 57, no. 1 (March 29): 33-66.
- Wiktorowicz, Quintan. 2006. "Anatomy of the Salafi Movement." *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 29, no. 3 (May): 207-239.
- WHO 2018. "Mental health promotion and mental health care in refugees and migrants." WHO. Technical Guidance.